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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

 
1. Whether the determination that a transaction is domestic is sufficient for 

the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). 
 

2. Whether an executive-level employee who, at the direction of a superior, 
inserts a false or misleading statement into investor materials, is subject 
to primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c), even if that individual is 

not the maker of the statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b) but is 
instead a disseminator. 
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STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS 

 This case presents a question of interpretation of 15 U.S.C. § 78j and 17 

C.F.R. § 240.10b–5. The relevant text is reproduced in the appendix. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 New Yorker Gianni Marconi (“Marconi”) made a name for himself as an 

innovative entrepreneur across several industries. (R. at 1). In 2007, wanting 

some time for himself, he uprooted and moved to his family’s ancestral village 

in Sicily. (R. at 1). He could not leave his entrepreneurial lifestyle in his past, 

though, so he decided to challenge Lampari Group, who dominated the wine-

and-spirits sector. (R. at 1). Marconi recruited another New Yorker and 

business school friend, Benny Factor (“Factor”), and the two self-funded 

Alcollezione (“Alcollezione” or the “Company”) in 2009. (R. at 2). Factor joined 

Marconi in Italy. (R. at 2).  

 The pair soon found themselves in need of a General Counsel. (R. at 2). 

Ava Cato (“Cato” or the “Respondent”), an Italian graduate of Sapienza 

Università di Roma, quickly helped Alcollezione establish a corporate 

headquarters in Milan and structure as a Società per azioni, the Italian 

equivalent of a corporation. (R. at 2). Having been hired to wade through the 

intricacies of Italian beverage law and appropriately advise the company, Cato 

studied the regulations in place for beverage quality control extensively. (R. at 

2). 
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 Alcollezione experienced great initial success. (R. at 2). It expanded from 

wine to limoncello to a variety of fruit cream liqueurs. (R. at 2). However, 

despite the personal wealth of its founders, Alcollezione soon needed outside 

capital in order to continue its growth and pose a real threat to Lampari. (R. at 

2). Factor and Marconi thus decided to go public, and Marconi became the 

CEO and Factor became the CFO. (R. at 3). As part of the IPO, the Company 

created an “Investor Relations” section on its website that provided financial 

statements, corporate disclosures, and other investor materials in Italian and 

English. (R. at 3). 

 The stock was listed on the Borsa Italiana, an Italian stock exchange, but 

the success Alcollezione experienced form its IPO was worldwide (R. at 3). 

Shortly after the IPO, Marconi, Factor, and Cato all traveled to New York, where 

they saw and noted first-hand the success of Alcollezione products in the 

United States. (R. at 3). When the Alcollezione executives were in New York, 

they went out with some of Factor’s friends. (R. at 3). One of those friends, an 

investment banker named Doris Schutt (“Schutt”), pushed for Alcollezione to 

bolster its American presence. (R. at 3). She first suggested they create an 

American subsidiary, but, when Marconi expressed distaste for the idea, she 

subsequently suggested Alcollezione sponsor an American Depository Receipt 

(“ADR”) to access American markets. (R. at 3). Marconi also initially rejected 

the ADR idea. (R. at 3). 



P03 

3 
 

 

 

 Alcollezione experienced continued success, and the magazine Slow 

Company featured Marconi and Alcollezione in their Summer 2016 issue. (R. at 

4). The media coverage bolstered the company, and it caught Schutt’s eye. (R. 

at 4). She called Marconi, congratulated him on the magazine profile, and again 

expressed interest in the company. (R. at 4). She sought Marconi’s blessing 

after informing him that she intended to use her position at Hansen Bank & 

Trust to set up an unsponsored ADR, and Marconi said “any friend of Factor’s 

is a friend of mine.” (R. at 4). Shortly thereafter, Hansen Bank & Trust filed a 

Form F-6 to register the unsponsored Alcollezione ADRs, which traded over-

the-counter (“OTC”) and were purchased via phone by various hedge fund 

managers in New York and Connecticut with the assistance of Hansen Bank & 

Trust employees. (R. at 4). 

 Meanwhile in Italy, Marconi was worried about the future of the company 

and came to the conclusion that Alcollezione’s long-term success would hinge 

on the release of a new product: a spiked mineral water with the qualities of 

Prosecco but zero calories. (R. at 5). They called the new product 

Frizzantissimo. (R. at 5). The Alcollezione executive team decided to release the 

product at the 2017 Annual Shareholders Meeting (the “Annual Meeting”). 

Marconi tasked Cato with researching the compliance requirements of the new 

beverage since no one on the executive team knew the legal parameters of 

creating this new product. (R. at 5).  
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 Marconi and Cato met before the Annual Meeting to discuss the 

regulatory landscape surrounding Frizzantissimo’s release. (R. at 5). From her 

research, Cato discovered that complying with regulations “would be an uphill 

climb” and “seemed unlikely in the short-term.” (R. at 5). Marconi still pushed 

for the continuation of the release, telling Cato that “these things always find a 

way of getting resolved” and that the release “is happening with or without 

you.” (R. at 5). Cato acquiesced and drafted assurances that the product was to 

be approved and ready for market in the second quarter of 2018. (R. at 6). She 

put these assurances into a disclosure that Marconi included in his Annual 

Meeting slide deck and Factor footnoted in his pro-forma financial statements. 

(R. at 6).  

 With these assurances, the Annual Meeting went very well. (R. at 6). 

Marconi delivered the slide deck, and the investors received the pro-forma 

financial statements. (R. at 6). They were also posted to the Investor Relations 

section of Alcollezione’s webpage in English, along with a video file of the 

announcement and accompanying press release. (R. at 6). Alcollezione’s stock 

and ADRs soared over 8% in after-hours trading. (R. at 6). The stock and ADRs 

continued to trend upward another 14% through early winter 2018 with the 

hedge fund investors being the main drivers of the ADR’s price. (R. at 6). 

 As Cato anticipated, Frizzantissimo faced regulatory problems. (R. at 6). 

On March 14, 2018, noncompliance with quality control standards of 

production forced Alcollezione to halt all production of Frizzantissimo. (R. at 6). 
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Consequentially, stock price tumbled nearly 29% and the ADR price dropped 

nearly 27%. (R. at 6). All three executives, including Cato, stepped down. (R. at 

6). No investigation has been commenced by Italian or European Authorities (R. 

at 6). 

 The hedge fund managers who purchased ADRs commenced an action in 

the United States District Court for the District of Fordham on September 6, 

2018, seeking $6.1 million in compensatory damages from the former 

executives in connection with their purchase of Alcollezione ADRs in reliance 

on allegedly false and misleading statements in violation of Section 10(b) of the 

Securities Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), (the “Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 

thereunder. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10(b)-5 (hereinafter “Rule 10b-5”). (R. at 7). (R. at 

7). 

On October 17, 2018, the former executives filed Rule 12(b)(6) motions to 

dismiss the action for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

(R. at 7). On November 21, 2018, the District Court found that the defendants 

were involved in a domestic transaction sufficient for § 10(b) to apply 

extraterritorially in this case. (R. at 7). It also rejected Cato’s argument that she 

could not be primarily liable, instead finding that Cato effectively served as the 

disseminator of Marconi’s allegedly false or misleading statements which 

subjects her to primary liability under 10b-5(a) and (c). (R. at 7). Cato sought 

an interlocutory appeal, arguing that the District Court erred in finding that 

involvement in a domestic transaction with the hedge fund managers is alone 
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sufficient for the extraterritorial application of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 and in 

finding that even though she was not the “maker” of the misstatements, she 

was still subject to primary liability. (R. at 7). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires that a 

complaint “contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim 

for relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 

(2009). The appropriate standard of review is de novo when a district court 

dismissed the case for failure to state a claim. Lormand v. US Unwired, Inc., 

565 F.3d 228, 232 (5th Cir. 2009). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 This court should reverse the trial court’s holding that Cato cannot be 

subject to an extraterritorial application of Rule 10b-5 under the transactional 

test from Morrison. The transactional test from Morrison determines whether 

10b-5 may be applied extraterritorially and requires a showing that the 

transaction involves either a security on an American stock exchange or “any 

other security in the United States.”  This case satisfies the second prong of the 

Morrison test.  

 Satisfying the irrevocable liability test is sufficient to meet the second 

prong of the Morrison test. The irrevocable liability test is satisfied when the 

purchaser becomes bound to complete a transaction in the United States. The 

Alcollezione ADRs satisfy the irrevocable liability test for two reasons. First, 
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10b-5 applies to securities, and an ADR qualifies as a security because it 

shares the same important features of common stock, most notably actual 

ownership. Second, the transaction passes this test because the hedge fund 

managers purchased the securities in New York and Connecticut with the 

assistance of Hansen Bank & Trust. 

 The question of whether the inquiry ends upon showing the domesticity 

of the transaction by satisfying the irrevocable liability test has resulted in a 

circuit split between the Second and Ninth Circuits. In the Ninth Circuit, 

satisfying the irrevocable liability test is sufficient to prove domesticity and 

thus trigger an extraterritorial application of Rule 10b-5. In the Second Circuit, 

courts hold that satisfying the second prong of Morrison is necessary but not 

sufficient, an argument that misreads the statute and Morrison’s interpretation. 

The Court should follow the Ninth Circuit’s bright-line rule in Toshiba for four 

reasons. First, an extraterritorial application of Rule 10b-5 is more applicable 

to ADRs than the swaps in Parkcentral due to the nature of an ADR. Second, 

Alcollezione was more involved with the ADRs than the defendants in 

Parkcentral. Third, based on the actions of Alcollezione, it is likely that 

Alcollezione and its executives were aware of the ADRs and the resulting 

transactions. Finally, the transaction had a significant number of domestic 

components. Taken together, these contentions demonstrate that the 

domesticity under the irrevocable liability test should be sufficient to follow 

Toshiba and apply Rule 10b-5 extraterritorially under the Morrison test.  



P03 

8 
 

 

 

 Once the Court establishes that Rule 10b-5 covers Respondent’s 

conduct, she should be held primarily liable under 10b-5(a) or (c) for inserting 

a false or misleading statement into investor materials at the insistence of a 

superior even if she is not the maker of the statement for the purposes of Rule 

10b-5(b). This is true because the subsections of 10b-5 are not mutually 

exclusive. Conduct that does not fall under 10b-5(b) can still fall under 10b-

5(a) or (c). Such is the nature of securities law, which is often broad and 

contains overlapping provisions. The Supreme Court’s recent decision in 

Lorenzo specifically authorizes courts to find primary violations of 10b-5(a) and 

(c) for disseminators whose conduct escapes primary liability under 10b-5(b). 

Cato’s conduct falls under this rule. She knew that her false and misleading 

assurances would go to investors, and her prominent role in the Company 

make her far more than a mere tangential actor to misconduct. Allowing such 

conduct to escape liability would be contrary to the purposes of securities law 

to stop fraud in its tracks. 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE TRANSACTIONS AT HAND ARE SUFFICIENT FOR AN 

EXTRATERRITORIAL APPLICATION OF RULE 10b-5 UNDER THE 

TRANSACTIONAL TEST FROM MORRISON.  

 An extraterritorial application of Section 10b-5 in this case properly 

implements the legislative intent to “ensure honest securities markets and 

thereby promote investor confidence” after the 1929 market crash. S.E.C. v. 
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Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 813 (2002). While it is true that Morrison endorsed the 

presumption against extraterritoriality, it more notably established the 

transactional test to determine when Rule 10b-5 applies despite such a 

presumption. Morrison v. Nat'l Australia Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 262, 273 

(2010). The domesticity of the Alcollezione ADR transactions satisfies the 

second prong of the transactional test and thus warrants an extraterritorial 

application of Rule 10b-5.  

A. The domesticity of the transaction is sufficient for rule 10b-5 to apply 

under the transactional test from Morrison. 

The second prong of Morrison demands the use of a bright-line rule. The 

Ninth Circuit in Toshiba properly interpreted the second prong of Morrison’s 

transactional test, holding that the domesticity of a transaction under the 

irrevocable liability test is sufficient, rather than necessary, for the application 

of Rule 10(b), which covers manipulative and deceptive devices, and Rule 10(b)-

5 thereunder. Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 949 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. 

denied, 139 S. Ct. 2766 (2019). The Court limited the application of 10b-5 to 

“transactions in securities listed on domestic exchanges” and “domestic 

transactions in other securities.” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 247, 267. Since 

Morrison, courts look to the irrevocable liability test to determine whether a 

transaction is domestic under the second prong of the transactional test from 

Morrison. Toshiba, 896 F.3d 933 at 948. 



P03 

10 
 

 

 

In Absolute Activist, the Second Circuit held that securities are “domestic 

if irrevocable liability is incurred.” Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. 

Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 67 (2d Cir. 2012). Both the Second and Ninth Circuits 

acknowledge that “Morrison holds that Rule 10(b) can be applied to domestic 

purchases or sales.” Id. at 67; Toshiba, 896 F.3d 933 at 950. All appellate 

judges agreed that the transaction at issue is “irrefutably” domestic under the 

irrevocable liability test. (R. at 14, 27).  

As the Second Circuit stated in Absolute Activist before the Parkcentral 

decision, a plaintiff must show that either irrevocable liability was incurred or 

title passed in the United States to satisfy the second prong of Morrison. 

Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 62. Under the irrevocable liability or title transfer 

test, “the nature of the securities are irrelevant,” and “[T]he only, consideration 

is whether or not the parties became ‘bound to effectuate a transaction’—either 

to take and pay for, or to deliver, a security—in the United States.” Starshinova 

v. Batratchenko, 931 F. Supp. 2d 478, 484 (S.D. N.Y. 2013); Absolute Activist, 

677 F.3d 60 at 67. 

Similarly, the Third Circuit held that “territoriality under Morrison turns 

on ‘where, physically, the purchaser or seller committed him or herself’ to pay 

for or deliver a security. United States v. Georgiou, 777 F.3d 125, 136 (3d Cir. 

2015) (quoting United States v. Vilar, 729 F.3d 62, 76 (2d Cir. 2013)). Factors 

that demonstrate irrevocable liability are “the formation of contracts, the 

placement of purchase orders, the passing of title, or the exchange of money.” 
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Id. at 136, (citing Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 69, 70); see also United States 

v. Vilar, 729 F.3d 62, 78 (2d Cir. 2013). The ADRs were purchased over the 

phone by the hedge fund managers in New York and Connecticut. (R. at 4).  

The remaining question is whether domesticity under the irrevocable 

liability test is sufficient to apply Rule 10b-5 extraterritorially. This question 

has created a circuit split. The Ninth Circuit appropriately distinguished the 

Second Circuit’s standard-based approach in Parkcentral, which has 

distinguishable facts and a holding that in no way would have prevented the 

future application of § 10(b) when “transactions are domestic and where the 

defendants are alleged to have sufficiently subjected themselves to the statute.” 

Parkcentral Glob. Hub Ltd. v. Porsche Auto. Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 217 (2d 

Cir. 2014); Toshiba, 896 F.3d 933, 950 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, 139 S. Ct. 

2766 (2019). Instead, the Ninth Circuit opted for a bright-line test, stating that 

domesticity under the irrevocable liability test is sufficient for an 

extraterritorial application of 10b-5. Id. at 949.  

The court went on to state that to view the second prong of the Morrison 

transactional test as necessary but not sufficient would turn Morrison and § 

10(b) on their heads. Id. at 949. It is irrelevant whether a foreign entity is 

involved in the transaction, because for the “Exchange Act to apply, there must 

be a domestic transaction.” Id. By avoiding a bright-line rule in favor of a 

predominantly foreign standard, Parkcentral opted for the kind of “open-ended” 

and “under-defined” test that Morrison rebuked. Id. Instead, the Court should 
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utilize the “administrable view” that properly implements the clarity-oriented 

purpose of Morrison and correctly reads the text of § 10(b) - the domestic 

“purchase or sale of any security registered on a national securities exchange 

or any security not so registered.” Id., 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (emphases added).  

B. The Ninth Circuit’s bright-line test is most applicable to Alcollezione’s 

ADRs based on the transaction. 

The appellate court erred in their reliance on Parkcentral. (R. at 14). It is 

true that sponsored ADRs differ from unsponsored ADRs, the misleading 

statements were made in Italy, those statements were directed at Italian 

stakeholders, and Respondent could be subject to duplicitous litigation. (R. at 

14-16). However, there are a number of contentions which cut against these 

arguments. Even if the Court were to reject the bright-line test of Toshiba, it 

would still be true that ADRs differ from swaps, Alcollezione was involved with 

the ADR, Alcollezione knew of the ADRs’ existence, and the transaction was not 

predominantly foreign enough to determine that applying Rule 10b-5 

extraterritorially would be impermissible.  

1. Extraterritorial application of 10b-5 is more applicable to ADRs 

than the swap in Parkcentral. 

An ADR is more closely related to the underlying security than the swap 

in Parkcentral. Swaps are contracts where the parties agree to exchange 

cashflows that depend on the price of the reference security. Parkcentral, 763 

F.3d at 205. However, the court noted that swaps differ from “many other” and 
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“less exotic” transactions that involve an “actual transfer” of shares. Id. at 206. 

Swaps do not involve the “actual ownership, purchase, or sale” of the 

underlying security, and they do not convey a “current or future direct or 

indirect ownership interest.” Id.; SEC ADR Release at 24, 422-23. An option 

such as the one in Parkcentral merely gives the rights to future payments that 

are derivative of the actual stock price, rather than any “right or obligation to 

delivery of the stock itself.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 206, 207.  

In cases that followed Toshiba and Parkcentral and dealt with ADRs or 

similar securities, courts applied § 10(b) extraterritorially, including one court 

in the Second Circuit. See, e.g., In re: Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Marketing, 

Sales Practices, and Products Liability Litigation, 2017 WL 66281 at *5 (Jan. 4, 

2017); Atlantica Holdings, Inc. v. BTA Bank JSC, 2015 WL 144165 at *8 (Jan. 

12, 2015). 

In Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Litigation, 2017 WL 66281 at *5, the court 

held that, unlike those in Parkcentral, the ADRs were “not independent from 

Volkswagen’s foreign securities” or “from Volkswagen itself.” Although the 

ADRs in the Volkswagen case were sponsored, the more important factor is 

that the nature of their ownership was fundamentally different from the swaps 

in the Parkcentral case, where ownership of the referenced security was not 

actually created by the transaction.  

In Atlantica, the court noted that the court in Parkcentral was careful to 

“cabin its holding to the facts of the case presented” and declined to extend 
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Parkcentral to the subordinated, unsecured debt at issue. Atlantica Holdings, 

Inc. v. BTA Bank JSC, 2015 WL 144165 at *8. The court noted that Parkcentral 

went out of its way to state its result “depend[ed] in some part on the particular 

character of the unusual security at issue,” and cautioned that it could have 

reached a different view had the security at issue not been a swap. Id. 

An ADR represents ownership of a share of a company on a foreign 

exchange, and is thus a stronger candidate under the Morrison test for an 

extraterritorial application of § 10(b). See Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Litigation, 

2017 WL 66281 at *5. The Alcollezione ADRs, unlike the swap in Parkcentral, 

represent an actual ownership in the underlying stock, rather than a derivative 

that merely followed the price of the stock.  More importantly, the Alcollezione 

ADRs constituted an “actual transfer,” and therefore an actual transaction of 

ownership. Consequentially, the Court should hold that all transactions which 

convey ownership in the underlying derivative should be sufficient for the 

extraterritorial application of § 10(b) when the second prong of the Morrison 

test is satisfied, including the Alcollezione ADRs at issue.  

 2. Alcollezione was involved with the ADRs in this case. 

Alcollezione was sufficiently involved with the ADRs to warrant an 

extraterritorial application on § 10(b). When the securities are a result of the 

involvement of their corresponding foreign companies, § 10(b) should be 
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applied extraterritorially.  See, e.g., Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Litigation, 2017 

WL 66281 at *5; Atlantica Holdings, 2015 WL 144165 at *8. 

In Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Litigation, 2017 WL 66281 at *5, the court 

cited the district court opinion from Toshiba, where the court held that the 

plaintiffs had not pled that Toshiba “sponsored, solicited, or engaged in any 

other affirmative act in connection” with the sale of the security in the United 

States. Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 191 F. Supp. 3d 1080, 1095 (C.D. Cal. 

2016), rev'd, 896 F.3d 933 (9th Cir. 2018). Had the plaintiffs successfully 

pleaded sponsorship, solicitation, or affirmative acts related to the transaction, 

extraterritorial application of § 10(b) would have been appropriate. See 

Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Litigation, 2017 WL 66281 at *5.  

In Atlantica Holdings, 2015 WL 144165 at *8, the court discussed 

Parkcentral, noting that while the misleading statements had partially been 

made in the United States, they had no involvement whatsoever with the swaps 

themselves. In Parkcentral, 763 F.3d 198 at 201, the court held that an 

extraterritorial application of § 10(b) would be “impermissibly extraterritorial” 

as a result of the total lack of involvement with the swaps themselves. 

The Alcollezione ADRs are markedly different from the above cases 

because the facts overwhelmingly suggest that Alcollezione was involved with 

the unsponsored ADR. First, it is likely that the choice to not issue sponsored 

ADRs was deliberate. Second, Marconi expressed approval to Schutt’s request 

to set up an unsponsored ADR.  
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As the dissent from the appellate court notes, had Alcollezione decided to 

issue a sponsored ADR, it would have prevented the issuance of an 

unsponsored ADR from a third party. See 1991 SEC ADR Release at 24, 422-

23, (R. at 28). This means that in order to keep the option open for third parties 

such as Schutt to issue unsponsored ADRs, Alcollezione would have to refrain 

from issuing a sponsored ADR. This was likely deliberate given their contacts 

with Schutt and Hansen Bank & Trust, which is a New York depository 

institution. (R. at 4).  

More importantly, Marconi gave his blessing to Schutt’s request to set up 

an unsponsored ADR. (R. at 4, 28). Schutt asked for Alcollezione’s consent to 

set up the unsponsored ADRs based on her relationship with Factor. Id. Given 

their amiability, Marconi gave her permission to do so. Id. Therefore, he was 

involved with giving consent for the transactions at issue to occur and likely 

had scienter of the future transactions, as well as the implicit possibility of 

being haled into a US court, unlike the defendants in Parkcentral. 

 3. Alcollezione knew of the ADRs’ existence. 

Yet another way in which Parkcentral is distinguishable from the issue 

before the Court is that Alcollezione knew or had reason to know of the ADR’s 

existence. In this case, there is strong evidence that demonstrates 
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Alcollezione’s knowledge of the ADRs. Precedent is not silent on how to 

evaluate whether or not it is likely that a company was aware of an ADR.  

An attempt to comply with US securities law is an indication of 

knowledge. See Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Litigation, 2017 WL 66281 at *6. In 

Volkswagen, there were multiple steps that Volkswagen had taken that the 

court believed to indicate an attempt to comply with US securities law, 

including posting digital versions of their investment documents in English. 

Id. As the dissent argues, this suggests that “Alcollezione had knowledge of the 

ADRs existence.” (R. at 29).  

Taken with the fact that that Schutt also had Marconi’s blessing to move 

forward with setting up the ADRs, the provision of English investment 

documents on Alcollezione’s website is an indication of knowledge of the ADRs, 

another factor which was lacking in Parkcentral. (R. at 4, 29). Moreover, the 

ADR release happened after Schutt had contacted Marconi about setting up the 

ADRs. (R. at 6). That likely knowledge supports an extraterritorial application 

of § 10(b) because Alcollezione targeted transactions in United States. 

4. The transaction was not predominantly foreign enough to bar 

extraterritorial application of Rule 10b-5. 

The transaction was not predominantly foreign to the point where 

extraterritorial application of Rule 10b-5 would be impermissible. Indeed, a 

significant portion of the events leading up to the transaction were domestic. 

Cato traveled with Marconi and Factor to New York, and, during their flight, 
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they discussed their growing success in the American market. (R. at 3). When 

they arrived in New York, they met with an investment banker, Schutt, who 

suggested that Alcollezione form a local subsidiary. (R. at 3). They declined to 

do so, but the initial contact with Schutt and her network was formed in New 

York. (R. at 3). 

Schutt contacted Marconi again later that year, mentioning that a group 

of her friends who worked with hedge funds were interested in purchasing 

Alcollezione ADRs. (R. at 4). Because of her relationship with Factor, she 

decided to check with Marconi first. (R. at 4).  

The broker and its agents were located in New York. (R. at 4). That 

broker, Hansen Bank & Trust, aided the hedge fund managers in their 

purchases of Alcollezione ADRs in New York and Connecticut. (R. at 4).  

In summary, three facts show that the transactions at issue were not 

predominantly foreign enough to bar extraterritorial application of Rule 10(b)-5. 

First, the investors purchased the securities in Connecticut and New York. 

Second, the contacts between Alcollezione and Hansen Bank & Trust were 

formed domestically in New York. (R. at 3). Third, Hansen Bank & Trust, the 

facilitator of the purchases, is an American institution. Therefore, the 

transaction was not so predominantly foreign as to find an extraterritorial 

application of Rule 10b-5 to be impermissible. (R. at 29).  
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Once the court finds that Rule 10b-5 can apply extraterritorially, the 

Court can then consider whether Respondent is primarily liable for any Rule 

10b-5 violations. 

II. AN EMPLOYEE WHO, AT THE INSISTENCE OF A SUPERIOR, INSERTS A 

FALSE OR MISLEADING STATEMENT INTO INVESTOR MATERIALS, IS 

SUBBJECT TO PRIMARY LIABILITY UNDER RULE 10b-5(a) OR (c), EVEN IF 

THAT INDIVIDUAL IS NOT THE MAKER OF THE STATEMENT FOR 

PURPOSES OF RULE 10b-5(b). 

 Respondent fails to properly apply Rule 10b-5 and the precedent of 

Lorenzo appropriately to this case. The subsections of Rule 10b-5 are not 

mutually exclusive, and Lorenzo allows primary liability for disseminators of 

false or misleading information even if they are not primarily liable under Rule 

10b-5(b). Lorenzo v. S.E.C., 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1099 (2019). Together, this means 

that Cato can be, and is, primarily liable for violations of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) 

even if she is not primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(b). Primary liability exists 

when an individual commits the securities violation himself rather than simply 

aids and abets the violation. Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank 

of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 177 (1994). This is a meaningful distinction 

because the private right of action only attaches where defendants are 

primarily liable for violating securities laws. 
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A. The subsections of 10b-5 are not mutually exclusive. 

 The subsections of 10b-5 are not mutually exclusive. The subsections 

make it unlawful: “(a) To employ any device, scheme or artifice to defraud, (b) 

To make any untrue statement of material fact…, or (c) To engage in any act, 

practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or 

deceit… in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.” 17 C.F.R. § 

240.10b–5 (2018). Respondent argues that, because disseminators of false or 

misleading information are not primarily liable under 10b-5(b), they cannot be 

primarily liable under the Rule’s other subsections. This argument rests on the 

untenable position that the subsections of Rule 10b-5 are mutually exclusive. 

This stance is contrary to the plain language of the Rule, the structure of 

securities law, and public policy. Conduct prohibited by one of the subsections 

may also be prohibited by others, and primary liability can attach 

correspondingly. Determining whether or not primary liability attaches in this 

case is an important question because private causes of actions are only 

permissible here if Respondent is primarily liable under either 10b-5(a) or (c). 

Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 191. 

1. Securities law is broad and contains many overlapping provisions, 

creating a presumption against mutual exclusivity. 

 Securities laws are intentionally broad and contain overlapping 

provisions. This is true because Congress intended the Securities Act to have 

the broad purpose “to protect investors from false and misleading practices 
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that might injure them.” See Id. at 173. The broad purpose and language of 

these laws ensures that misconduct will not slip through the cracks of the 

securities law framework. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1102. This explains the way 

that securities laws evolve over time: the first step is the creation of laws that 

prohibit general conduct; then, subsequent laws provide specific examples that 

clarify rather than supplant the existing laws. Id. In this manner, Rule 10b-5 

developed as a specific exercise of the authority granted to the SEC under § 

10(b) of the Securities Act. Id. at 1100. Because of the nature of securities laws 

and their evolution, courts consistently hold that securities laws “prohibit some 

of the same conduct.” United States v. Naftalin, 441 U.S. 768, 778 (1979); see 

also Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 383 (1983).  

2. The language, enforcement history, and goals of 10b-5 all point to 

the conclusion that the subsections are not mutually exclusive. 

 The lack of mutual exclusivity of the subsections of 10b-5 start with their 

evident overlap. The overlap is apparent from a plain language reading of the 

text. The Supreme Court relies on dictionary definitions of the statute’s 

prohibited conduct, which says a “ ‘device’… is simply “ ‘[t]hat which is devised, 

or formed by design’ ”; a “ ‘scheme’ ” is a “ ‘project,’ ” “ ‘plan[,] or program of 

something to be done’ ”; and an “ ‘artifice’ ” is “ ‘an artful stratagem or trick.’ ” 

Aaron v. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n, 446 U.S. 680, 696 (1980) (quoting Webster’s 

International Dictionary 713, 2234, 157 (2d ed. 1934) (Webster’s Second)). 

Dissemination of false or misleading information, based on these dictionary 
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definitions, fits into both 10(b)-5(a) and (c) since it is a scheme to defraud and 

an act or practice to defraud or deceive. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. To find 

otherwise would be to depart from a facial interpretation of the text of 10b-5. 

 The history of enforcement of Rule 10b-5 support the conclusion that its 

subsections are not mutually exclusive. The Supreme Court has found conduct 

that does not fall under 10b-5(b) to violate both 10b-5(a) and (c). See, e.g., 

Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 152 (1972). This is 

in accordance with the SEC’s earliest Rule 10b-5 actions, which reveal a long-

held understanding that the subsections are not mutually exclusive. See, e.g., 

In re R. D. Bayly & Co., 19 S.E.C. 773 (1945); In re Arthur Hays & Co., 5 S.E.C. 

271 (1939). The existence of overlap means that courts should more readily 

embrace conduct that falls into overlapping provisions as clear securities law 

violations. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1102. 

3. Finding that the subsections of 10b-5 are not mutually exclusive 

does not disrupt the distinction between primary and secondary 

liability. 

 The distinction between primary and secondary liability is not at risk of 

erosion just because the subsections of Rule 10b-5 are not mutually exclusive. 

The distinction between primary and secondary liability have been clearly 

defined since the enactment of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. Despite no explicit 

grant of a private right of action, it is widely accepted that a private right of 

action is implied by § 10b of the Securities Act and Rule 10b-5. Ernst & Ernst v. 
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Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 196 (1976). The private right of action only attaches, 

though, when the defendant is primarily liable for himself violating the relevant 

securities law provisions. Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 177. On the other hand, 

secondary liability attaches when a defendant aids or abets a primary violation 

of the Rule. Id. at 191. An aider or abettor “knowingly or recklessly… provides 

substantial assistance to another person” who violates the Rule. 15 U.S.C. § 

78t(e).  

 Respondent argues that, if the same conduct makes a defendant 

primarily liable under certain subsections and secondarily liable under others, 

the distinction between the two becomes muddled and unworkable. This is an 

unfounded concern. The Lorenzo rule is simple: “Those who disseminate false 

statements with the intent to defraud are primarily liable under Rules 10b-5(a) 

and (c) [and] § 10(b)… even if they are secondarily liable under Rule 10b-5(b).” 

Lorenzo 1104. Different sections of Rule 10b-5 work to achieve different ends, 

so it is not unworkable for different sections to have different types of liability 

attach. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1104.  

 In addition to following the text and purposes of Rule 10b-5, finding that 

the subsections of Rule 10b-5 are not mutually exclusive is imperative for 

public policy. When they created the Securities Act, “Congress intended to root 

out all manner of fraud in the securities industry. And it gave the Commission 

the tools to accomplish that job.” Id. The grant of authority under these 

statutes is broad, and the goals of granting this authority are comparably 
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broad. The goal of the statutes is to “achieve a high standard of business ethics 

in the securities industry.” S.E.C. v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 

U.S. 180, 186 (1963). With this in mind, letting people like the Respondent get 

away with disseminating false or misleading information due to issues of 

statutory interpretation, leaving private parties entirely without remedy, is 

contrary to the public policy of securities laws. Like in Lorenzo, there is a 

concern here that finding mutual exclusivity will allow fraudulent activity to 

escape liability altogether. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1104.  

 With a determination that the subsections of Rule 10b-5 are not 

mutually exclusive, this Court can then turn to address the specific conduct in 

this case. 

B. Being a disseminator of false or misleading information is sufficient to 

find primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c). Cato’s conduct thus 

demands a determination of primary liability under these subsections. 

 Courts have found Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) to cover a wide array of fraud 

and misrepresentation. In Lorenzo, the Court unequivocally held that: 

“dissemination of false or misleading statements with intent to defraud can fall 

within the scope of subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5, as well as the relevant 

statutory provisions… [T]hat is so even if the disseminator did not ‘make’ the 

statements and consequentially falls outside subsection (b) of the Rule.” Id. at 

1100. This led to the court finding Lorenzo primarily liable for his conduct, 

which included sending emails to investors that misrepresented the assets of 
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the company for which he was soliciting investments. Id. at 1099. Lorenzo’s 

boss had the ultimate authority over the messages, having supplied the 

content and approved the emails, but Lorenzo signed his own name, invited 

questions, and represented himself as “Vice President—Investment Banking.” 

Id. Respondent’s misconduct is analogous to Lorenzo’s, and should likewise 

face primary liability. 

1. Subsections 10b-5(a) and (c) cover a wide range of misconduct, 

including the dissemination of fraudulent misstatements. 

 Subsections 10b-5(a) and (c) cover a broad range of securities-related 

misconduct. It is true that Rule 10b-5(b) covers a narrow set of conduct, but 

10b-5(a) and (c) are not as restrictive and cover much more, overlapping 

conduct. Affiliated Ute, 406 U.S. at 152. Courts have found that even just 

misstatements, rather than fraudulent misstatements, constitute a violation of 

10b-5(a) and (c). See S.E.C. v. SeeThruEquity, LLC, 2019 WL 1998027 at *5 

(S.D.N.Y. 2019). The dissemination of fraudulent misstatements is a much 

more egregious violation, so it more firmly fits into the conduct prohibited by 

10b-5(a) and (c). 

 Since dissemination of fraudulent misstatements falls into the conduct 

covered by 10b-5(a) and (c), defendants can be held primarily liable under 

those subsections if they are disseminators. It is not a novel concept to attach 

primary liability to conduct other than unilateral actions of fraud over which 

an individual has complete control. Those situations are rare. In Herman, the 
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Supreme Court noted that “certain individuals who play a part in preparing the 

registration statement” can be primarily liable. Herman & MacLean v. 

Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 386 n. 22 (1983). Moreover, in Central Bank, the 

Court held that “Any person or entity, including a lawyer, accountant, or bank, 

who employs a manipulative device or makes a material misstatement (or 

omission) on which a purchaser or seller of securities relies may be liable as a 

primary violator under 10b-5...” Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 1455. These cases 

demonstrate a willingness of courts to assign primary liability for conduct that 

exceeds Respondent’s suggested scope of unilateral activity of a person with 

sole authority over information.  

 The holding in Janus does not change the conclusion that Cato is 

primarily liable under 10b-5(a) and (c). Any reliance on Janus in this case is 

misguided. In Janus, the court found that Janus Capital Management (JCM) 

cannot be held liable for the fraudulent misstatements in a Janus Investment 

Fund prospectus because they are separate legal entities and JCM did not 

make the statements. Janus Capital Grp., Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 

U.S. 135, 137 (2011). The holding in Janus does not address dissemination at 

all. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1103. Lorenzo did not supplant Janus, and the court 

in Lorenzo said “Janus would remain relevant (and preclude liability) where an 

individual neither makes nor disseminates false information…” Id. Because this 

case deals with the dissemination of false information, Janus is not the 

relevant case to look to for guidance; Lorenzo is. 
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2. Subsections 10b-5(a) and (c) cover Cato’s conduct. 

 Cato disseminated false or misleading information with the intent to 

defraud. The definition of dissemination is “the act of spreading, diffusing, or 

dispersing.” Dissemination Definition, Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019), 

available at Westlaw. Cato put false information into the Annual Meeting slide 

deck and the pro-forma financial statements, both of which were intended for 

investors. (R. at 6). This constitutes dissemination. Cato knew that the 

information she put into the Annual Meeting slide deck would go to investors; 

such is the purpose of an Annual Meeting with investors. It does not matter if 

she did not herself physically deliver these materials to investors. A courier 

could have done so, and Cato would still have disseminated them because she 

both had the necessary scienter and put the false information into documents 

she knew were intended for imminent dissemination to investors. This is 

similar to Lorenzo, who disseminated false or misleading information by 

sending it to investors and posting it on the company website. Lorenzo, 139 S. 

Ct. at 1099.  

 Even if this Court does not find that she disseminated the information, 

Cato should still face primary liability because of her prominent position at 

Alcollezione. She was specifically recruited to be an expert on beverage law for 

the company in the capacity of General Counsel. (R. at 2). She then assumed 

responsibility for researching alcoholic sparkling beverage laws and ensuring 

that Frizzantissimo was in compliance. (R. at 5). It logically follows that she 
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exercised a considerable amount of control over the fraudulent compliance 

assurances that she put into the Annual Meeting slide deck and the pro-forma 

financial statements. (R. at 6). Indeed, she is high up on the chain of command 

at the company, which means she is not a mere tangential actor. In Lorenzo, 

the court relied on the fact that Lorenzo had a major role in the company to say 

that his was not a borderline case. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. The same is 

true of Cato’s case. Using a metaphor from Janus, both Cato and Lorenzo were 

more like speech givers than speechwriters. Janus, 564 U.S. 135 at 143. Their 

role was too important, and their power to stop the fraud too great, to find 

otherwise. 

 This case fits squarely into the guidance provided by Lorenzo. Both sides 

in this case agree that Cato is not primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(b) because 

she was not the maker of false or misleading statements. (R. at 34). That leaves 

10b-5(a) and (c), and Cato is primarily liable for violating those subsections. 

Her conduct falls under the clear Lorenzo rule: “dissemination of false or 

misleading statements with intent to defraud can fall within the scope of 

subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5, as well as the relevant statutory 

provisions. In our view, that is so even if the disseminator did not ‘make’ the 

statements and consequentially falls outside subsection (b) of the Rule.” 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1100. 



P03 

29 
 

 

 

 10b-5(a) and (c) make Ava Cato primarily liable for disseminating 

fraudulent misstatements even though she did not make those statements and 

can only be secondarily liable under 10b-5(b). 

 

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons stated herein, Petitioners respectfully request this Court 

to reverse the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth 

Circuit and remand for trial. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

____________________/s/ 
Team P03 

Counsel of Record for Petitioners 
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APPENDIX 

 

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (2018): 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any 

facility of any national securities exchange— (b) To use or employ, in 
connection with the purchase or sale of any security registered on a national 
securities exchange or any security not so registered, or any securities-based 

swap agreement any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in 
contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe 

as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of 
investors. 

 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2018): 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any 

facility of any national securities exchange, 
 

(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, 

 
(b) To make any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material 

fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or 
 

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or 
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, 

 

in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 
 

 


